Case No. 72931

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC; and STAR HILL HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION,

Appellant,

VS.

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON F/K/A/ THE BANK OF NEW YORK, AS TRUSTEE FOR THE CERTIFICATEHOLDERS OF THE CWABS, INC., ASSET-BACKED CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2006-6,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Jul 14 2017 08:26 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Certified Question From the United States District Court, District of Nevada The Honorable RICHARD F. BOULWARE, II, UNITED STATES District Judge Case No. 2:16-cv-02561-RFB-PAL

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Howard Kim, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 10386
E-mail: howard@kgelegal.com
JACQUELINE A. GILBERT, Esq.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court may answer questions of law certified to it by a federal court when the answer will help settle important questions of law. *Kaplan v. Chapter 7 Trustee*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 80, 384 P3d 491, 493 (2016). Questions of law are certified to the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure 5 which states, in relevant part:

- (a) Power to Answer. The Supreme Court may answer questions of law certified to it by the Supreme Court of the United States, a Court of Appeals of the United States or of the District of Columbia, a United States District Court, or a United States Bankruptcy Court when requested by the certifying courts, if there are involved in any proceeding before those courts questions of law of this state which may be determinative of the cause then pending in the certifying court and as to which it appears to the certifying court there is no controlling precedent in the decisions of the Supreme Court of this state.
- (b) Method of Invoking. This Rule may be invoked by an order of any of the courts referred to in Rule 5(a) upon the court's own motion or upon the motion of any party to the cause.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure 17(a)(7) as this is a question of law certified by a Federal District Court for the District of Nevada. The certification was accepted by the Supreme Court via order filed on June 13, 2017.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does NRS 116.31168 incorporate NRS 107.090 requiring homeowners' associations to provide notices of default to junior lien holders even when those lien holders do not request notice?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

While SFR believes this Court has already answered the certified question on multiple occasions, some failed to hear and others have conveniently ignored the answer. Nevertheless, the answer is unequivocal: "NRS 116.31168(1) does incorporate NRS 107.090, including subsections (3) and (4) which requires notice be sent to all junior lienholders of record, without the need for any formal request." However, despite both the majority and dissent recognizing the full incorporation of NRS 107.090 in SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A., 130 Nev. ____, 334 P.3d 408 (2014), the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals still held that 116.31168(1)'s incorporation of 107.090 does not require associations "to provide notice of default to mortgage lenders even absent a request, (because) section 116.31163 and section 116.311635 would have been meaningless." Bourne Valley Court Trust v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 832 F.3d 1154, 1159 (9th Cir. 2016). To clear the air once and for all, SFR respectfully implores this Court to state the answer in a published opinion and make it the law of the land. Without it, constitutionality of the statute would depend solely on the employer of the judges. Without this Court's clear and unmistakable pronouncement that NRS 116.31168 fully incorporates NRS 107.090, and mandates notice to junior lienholders of record, federal judges are bound to follow the Ninth Circuit's holding and this has led to forum shopping across Nevada's state and federal courts, including bankruptcy courts.

Ultimately, a Nevada statute should have the same meaning regardless of which court interprets it. This Honorable Court is the authority on the interpretation of Nevada law. A published opinion stating clearly that NRS 107.090 is fully incorporated, and that associations are mandated to provide notice of their non-judicial foreclosures to junior lienholders without additional requests, will cure the conflict between the Nevada's courts and provide a singular, binding authority.

LEGAL BACKGROUND

Before 1989, NRS 107.090 required entities conducting deed of trust foreclosures to notify only those who had recorded requests to receive notice. In 1989, the Legislature amended the statute to require notice to all recorded junior or subordinate lienholders, regardless of whether they requested notice. Assembly Bill No. 440- Assemblyman Callister, 1989 Nev. Stat., ch.306, §1, at 644, s1.

- 2. A person with an interest desiring a copy of a notice of default or notice of sale under a deed of trust with power of sale upon real property may at any time *after* recordation of *the* deed of trust file in the office of the county recorder of the county in which any part of the real property is situated an acknowledged request for a copy of [such] *the* notice of default or sale. The request *must* state the name and address of the person requesting copies of *the* notices and identify the deed of trust by stating the names of the parties thereto, the date of recordation and the book and page where it is recorded.
- 3. The trustee or person authorized to record the notice of default shall, within 10 days *after the notice of default is recorded*, cause to be deposited in the United States mail an envelope, registered or certified and with postage prepaid, containing a copy of *the* notice, addressed to:
 - (a) Each person who has filed a request for a copy of the notice; and
- (b) Each other person with an interest whose interest or claimed interest is subordinate to the deed of trust.
- 4. The trustee or person authorized to make the sale shall, at least 20 days before the date of sale, cause to be deposited in the United States mail an envelope, registered or certified and with postage prepaid, containing a copy of the notice of time and place of sale, addressed to each person described in subsection 3.

¹ **Section 1. NRS 107.090** is hereby amended to read as follows:

^{107.090 1.} As used in this section, "person with an interest" means any person who has or claims any right, title or interest in, or lien or charge upon, the real property described in the deed of trust and as evidenced by any document or instrument filed or recorded in the office of the county recorder of the county in which any part of the real property is situated.

The homeowner association lien statute, NRS 116.3116, is a creature of the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act of 1982, § 3–116, 7 U.L.A., part II 121–24 (2009) (amended 1994, 2008) (UCIOA), which Nevada adopted in 1991.² See NRS 116.001.

In 1991, the Legislature enacted statutes incorporating NRS 107.090 into NRS 116.31168 as follows:

The provisions of NRS 107.090 apply to the foreclosure of an association's lien as if a deed of trust were being foreclosed. The request must identify the lien by stating the names of the unit's owner and the common-interest community. The association must also give reasonable notice of its intent to foreclose to all holders of liens in the unit who are known to it.³

Assembly Bill No. 221, 1991 Nev. Stat., ch.245, §104, at 570-71 (codified as NRS 116.31168) (emphasis added).⁴ Based on the plain language, NRS 116.31168 required associations to provide notice to: (1) **all recorded junior or subordinate lienholders** in the same manner as deed-of-trust foreclosures under NRS 107.090; and (2) all holders of liens in the unit who were known to the association. This direct application of NRS 107.090 is what requires associations to provide notice to all

See Appellant's Rule 28(f) Statutory Addendum filed under NRAP 28(f) hereinafter referred to as ("AA_") at AA_0002.

² See AA_0010.

³ See AA_0041.

⁴ *Id.*

subordinate claim holders, including recorded first deed of trust beneficiaries. Specifically, NRS 107.090(3) stated that "[t]he trustee or person authorized to record the notice of default shall, within 10 days after the notice of default is recorded, cause to be deposited in the United States mail an envelope, registered or certified and with postage prepaid, containing a copy of the notice, addressed to :(a) Each person who has filed a request for a copy of; and (b) Each person with an interest whose interest or claimed interest is subordinate to the deed of trust.⁵ 107.090(4) stated: "[t]he trustee or person authorized to make the sale shall, at least 20 days before the date of sale, cause to be deposited in the United States mail an envelope, registered or certified and with postage prepaid, containing a copy of the notice of time and place of sale, addressed to each person described in subsection 3." Read together with NRS 116.31168,7 which stated "[t]he provisions of NRS 107.090 apply to the foreclosure of an association's lien as if a deed of trust were being foreclosed" evidence that the statutes text required notice to parties who recorded an interest, such as a deed of trust.

_

⁵ See AA 0006.

⁶ *Id*

⁷ See AA_0010.

In 1993, the Legislature amended NRS 116, repealing a portion of NRS 116.31168, and enacting NRS 116.31163 and 116.311635.8 The repealed portion of NRS 116.31168 struck out that the "association must also give reasonable notice of its intent to foreclose to all holders of liens in the unit who are known to it." However, because by incorporation of NRS 107.090, the statute already required notice to all recorded junior or subordinate lienholders of record, the newly enacted statutes only provided additional categories of interested parties who could "opt-in" for notice. The table below demonstrates the amendment of NRS Chapter 116.31168 after the 1993 legislative session.

Botote 1770 i intendiment		
116.31168 1. The provisions		
of NRS 107.090 apply to the		
foreclosure of an association's lien as		
if a deed of trust were being		
foreclosed. The request must identify		
the lien by stating the names of the		
unit's owner and the common-interest		
community. The association must also		
give reasonable notice of its intent to		
foreclose to all holders of liens in the		
unit who are known to it.		

Before 1993 Amendment⁹

2. An association may, after recording a notice of default and election to sell, waive the default and

After 1993 Amendment¹⁰

116.31168 1. The provisions of NRS 107.090 apply to the foreclosure of an association's lien as if a deed of trust were being foreclosed. The request must identify the lien by stating the names of the unit's owner and the common-interest community. [The association must also give reasonable notice of its intent to foreclose to all holders of liens in the unit who are known to it.]

2. An association may, after recording a notice of default and election to sell, waive the default and withdraw the notice or any proceeding to foreclose. The

⁸ See AA_0166-0172.

⁹ See AA_0041.

¹⁰ See AA_0170.

withdraw the notice or any proceeding to foreclose. The association is thereupon restored to its former position and has the same rights as though the notice had not been recorded. association is thereupon restored to its former position and has the same rights as though the notice had not been recorded.

The legislative history shows that the change in NRS 116.31168 was made to "conform" with the other amendments and language. The deleted text was redundant since NRS 107.090 already required notice to subordinate lienholders of record and the newly added provisions of NRS 116.31163 and 116.31168 required notice to all others who made themselves known to the association.

On September 18, 2014, this Court entered a landmark decision in *SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A.*, 130 Nev. adv Op. 75, 334 P.3d 408 (2014). This Court definitively stated that:

"The provisions of NRS 107.090," governing notice to junior lienholders and others in deed-of-trust foreclosure sales, "apply to the foreclosure of an association's lien as if a deed of trust were being foreclosed." NRS 116.31168(1). The HOA must provide the homeowner notice of default and election to sell; it also must notify "[e]ach person who has requested notice pursuant to NRS 107.090 or 116.31168" and "[a]ny holder of a recorded security interest encumbering the unit's owner's interest who has notified the association, 30 days

¹¹ See AA_0073.

before the recordation of the notice of default, of the existence of the security interest." NRS 116.31163(1), (2).

SFR at 411. (Emphasis added).

Even the *dissent* agreed with the incorporation of NRS 107.090: "[a]s the majority points out, by incorporating certain notice provisions from Chapter 107, Chapter 116 appears to mandate that the association mail the notice of default and notice of sale to the first security holders who have recorded their interest when the association is foreclosing on its lien." *Id.* at 422. So, all seven justices determined that incorporation of 107.090 required notice to junior lienholders,

On August 12, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals held that NRS chapter 116's "opt-in" notice scheme violates the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause because it allows a lender to be stripped of its deed of trust without requiring notice of the intent to foreclose. *Bourne Valley Court Tr. v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, 832 F.3d 1154, 1157-58 (9th Cir. 2016), r'hng denied (9th Cir. Nov. 4, 2016). The Court in *Bourne Valley* held that Nevada law did not mandate notice to mortgage lenders whose rights are subordinate to a homeowner's association super priority lien. *See id.* at 1159

Subsequently, this Court, on January 26, 2017, issued its opinion in *Saticoy*Bay LLC Series 350 Durango 104 v. Wells Fargo Home Mortgage, a Div. of Wells

Fargo Bank, N.A., 388 P.3d 970 (Nev. 2017). In the opinion, this Court disagreed

with the Ninth Circuit Court on the issue of whether due process was implicated, holding that due process was not implicated in an association non-judicial foreclosure sale for lack of state action. Id. at 974, n.5. Because this Court had concluded due process was not implicated, it stated that it "need not determine whether NRS 116.3116 et seq. incorporates the notice requirements set forth in NRS 107.090." *Id.* at 974. This disinclination to revisit the incorporation of NRS 107.090 in the Saticoy Bay case, although this Court expressly reaffirmed the incorporation in many subsequent orders, is being used as though, this Court has not ruled on the issue. Thus, this leaves room for conflicting dual interpretations of the same statute between Nevada state courts and federal district courts. These contradicting interpretations are untenable as NRS 116.3116 should have the same meaning and effect regardless of which court interprets it. This is why SFR respectfully requests that this Court again answer the certified question in the affirmative that NRS 116 incorporates NRS 107.090 requiring notice of association foreclosure to first deed of trust holders. After all, "it is solely within the province of the state courts to authoritatively construe state legislation." Cal. Teachers Ass'n v. State Bd. of Educ., 271 F.3d 1141, 1146 (9th Cir. 2001).

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

This case arises out of a non-judicial foreclosure sale conducted by a homeowners association on September 14, 2012 pursuant to NRS 116. (JA_0008.) On November 4, 2016, the respondent, the Bank of New York Mellon F/K/A the Bank of New York, as Trustee for the Certificateholders of the CWABS, Inc. Asset-Backed Certificates, Series 2006-6 ("BNY Mellon") filed its Complaint, requesting a declaration that the foreclosure sale did not extinguish the deed of trust and alleged that the foreclosure was unconstitutional in that it denied due process because NRS 116 "lacks any pre-deprivation notice requirements." (JA_0001, JA_00010.)

On January 3, 2017, SFR filed its answer and brought counter-claims against BNY Mellon for declaratory relief and quiet title. (JA_0034.) SFR alleges that BNY Mellon had actual notice and received the notice of default and notice of sale. *Id.* Therefore, SFR requests a declaration that the deed of trust was extinguished by the sale pursuant to the Nevada Supreme Court decision in *SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A.*, 334 P.3d 408,419 (Nev. 2014), and SFR has title free and clear of the deed of trust.

On January 4, 2017, SFR filed a motion to certify a question of law to this Honorable Court on whether "NRS 116.31168 incorporates NRS107.090 which required homeowners associations to provide notices of default to banks even when

a bank does not request notice." (JA_0055.) The Motion was granted by order on April 21, 2017. (JA_0062.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As both the majority and dissent noted in the *SFR* decision, NRS 116.31168(1) mandates associations to mail notices to the first security holders through incorporation of NRS 107.090. Yet, the Banks continue to argue that notice is not required, thus depriving them of due process. The Banks rely on the Ninth Circuit's incorrect interpretation of Nevada law in *Bourne Valley* which stated that incorporation of NRS 107.090 would "render superfluous" the notice provision of NRS 116.31163(2) and that the statute could not be read to require notice. *Bourne Valley* is wrong. The plain language of the statutes, and the rules of statutory construction clearly supports the incorporation of NRS 107.090. Moreover, this Court has reaffirmed the incorporation of NRS 107.090 and mandated notice on many occasions since *Bourne Valley*, albeit in unpublished orders. This Court,

_

[&]quot;NRS 116.31168 (2013) incorporates NRS 107.090 (2013), which requires that notices to be sent to a deed of trust beneficiary." See G & P Inv. Enterprises, LLC v. Mortgage Elec. Registration Sys., Inc., 391 P.3d 101, fn.1 (Table) (Nev. March 17, 2017) (unpublished order); see also LN Mgmt. LLC Series 877 Veranda View v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 391 P.3d 102, fn 1 (Table) (Nev. March 17, 2017) (unpublished order); Holm Int'l Properties, LLC v. Bank of New York Mellon, 391 P.3d 103 (Table) (Nev. March 17, 2017) (unpublished order); Saticoy Bay LLC Series 5710 E. Tropicana 2077 v. SRMOF II 2012-1 Trust, 391 P.3d 102, fn 1 (Table) (Nev. March 17, 2017) (unpublished order); Las Vegas Dev. Group, LLC v. Wells Fargo Fin. Nevada 2, Inc., 391 P.3d 101, fn 1 (Table) (Nev. March 17, 2017) (unpublished order); Bank of New York Mellon for Certificate Holders CWABS, Inc., Asset-Backed Certificates, Series 2006-22 v. Fort Apache Homes,

and not the Ninth Circuit is the ultimate arbiter of what Nevada statutes say and mean. A clear and unequivocal opinion from this Court, reaffirming the incorporation of NRS 107.090 and the mandate to send notice to junior lienholders of record, without additional "opt-in" requirements, will end the forum shopping and unnecessary litigation over this issue.

_

Inc., 393 P.3d 660, fn 2 (Table) (Nev. April 14, 2017) (unpublished order); JPMorgan Chase Bank, Nat'l Ass'n v. Saticoy Bay LLC Series 10013 Alegria, 393 P.3d 1073, fn 2 (Table) (Nev. April 14, 2017) (unpublished order); PNC Bank, N.A., Successor By Merger To National City Mortgage Co D/B/A Commonwealth United Mortgage Company, v. Saticoy Bay, LLC Series 4208 Rolling Stone Dr. Trust, 69201, 2017 WL 2628535, at *1 (Nev. June 15, 2017) slip copy fn1; PNC Bank, Nat'l Ass'n v. Saticoy Bay LLC Series 9320 Mt. Cash Ave. UT 103, 395 P.3d 511 fn 1 (Table) (Nev. May 25, 2017); JPMC Specialty Mortgage LLC v. Saticoy Bay LLC, 70993, 2017 WL 2628934, at *1 (Nev. June 15, 2017). (Emphasis added).

ARGUMENT

I. THE RULE OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION

Statutory interpretation begins with the plain language of the statute, and "[w]hen the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, a court should give that language its ordinary meaning and not go behind it." City Counsel of Reno v. Reno Newspapers, 105 Nev. 886, 891, 784 P.2d 974, 977 (1989) ("Boulder Oaks"); see also Carson-Tahoe Hosp. v. Bldg. & Constr. Trades, 122 Nev. 218, 220, 128 P.3d 1065, 1066-1067 (2006) (courts should not look further if the words have definite and ordinary meaning or it is clear the meaning was not intended); City of Reno v. Bldg. & Constr. Trades, 127 Nev. —, —, 251 P.3d 718, 722 (2011) ("When a statute uses words that have a definite and plain meaning, the words will retain that meaning unless it clearly appears that the Legislature did not intend such a meaning."). Nevada courts "will interpret a rule or statute in harmony with other rules and statutes," Albios v. Horizon Communities, Inc., 122 Nev. 409, 418, 132 P.3d 1022, 1028 (2006) (quoting Allianz Ins. Co. v. Gagnon, 109 Nev. 990, 993, 860 P.2d 720, 723 (1993)); see also Leven v. Frey, 123 Nev. 399, 405, 168 P.3d 712, 716 (2007) ("[T]his court considers the statute's multiple legislative provisions as a whole ... [and will] not render any part of a statute meaningless."). If "a statute is ambiguous, because it is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation, this court will construe a statute by considering reason and public policy to determine

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