IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL, 1, LLC; and STAR HILL HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION,

Petitioners,

v.

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON F/K/A THE BANK OF NEW YORK AS TRUSTEE FOR THE CERTIFICATEHOLDERS OF THE CWABS, INC., ASSET-BACKED CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2006-6,

Respondent.

Supreme Court No. 72931
Electronically Filed
Oct 04 2017 04:16 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Certified Question from the United States District Court, District of Nevada The Honorable Richard F. Boulware, United States District Judge Case No. 2:16-cv-02561-RFB-PAL

ANSWERING BRIEF

ARIEL E. STERN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 8276
AKERMAN LLP

1160 N. Towne Center Drive, Suite 330

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This matter fails the standard set forth in *Volvo Cars of N. Am., Inc. v. Ricci*, 122 Nev. 746, 137 P.3d 1161 (2006), for this court to answer a certified question. NRAP 5 provides that the Nevada Supreme Court

may answer questions of law certified to it by . . . a United States District Court, when requested . . ., if there are involved in [the] proceeding . . . questions of law of this state which may be determinative of the cause then pending in the certifying court and as to which it appears to the certifying court there is no controlling precedent in the decisions of the supreme court of this state.

NRAP 5; see also Volvo Cars of N. Am., Inc. v. Ricci, 122 Nev. 746, 749, 137 P.3d 1161, 1163 (2006). According to Volvo Cars, the answer to the question must also "help settle important questions of law." Volvo Cars of N. Am., Inc. v. Ricci, 122 Nev. 746, 751, 137 P.3d 1161, 1164 (2006).

Here, this court's response to the certified question would not be determinative of any part of the federal action, nor would it resolve an important question of state law. The certified question was already before this court in *Saticoy Bay LLC Series*

350 Durango 104 v. Wells Fargo Mortgage, 133 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 388 P.3d 970 (Nev. 2017), and the court appropriately decided not to answer it. Rather than decide that NRS 116.31168 incorporates mandatory-notice provisions, this court proceeded to the constitutional question, and concluded, in disagreement with the Ninth Circuit, that nonjudicial foreclosure of a Chapter 116 lien does not constitute state action for purposes of the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution. In so doing, Saticoy Bay's holding rendered academic in Nevada's courts whether NRS 116.31168 required notice to first deed of trust holders—the answer to this question has no effect on state law or on cases pending in state court. If the court were to now rule that, as a matter of statutory interpretation, the statute does incorporate mandatory notice, that would potentially render its decision in *Saticoy Bay* merely an advisory opinion and, further, would suggest this court should have decided the statutory question rather than the constitutional one. See Sheriff, Pershing Cty. v. Andrews, 286 P.3d 262, 263 (Nev. 2012) (declining to reach the constitutionality of NRS 212.093 and deciding the case on statutory grounds, stating "[i]t is well settled ... that we should avoid considering the constitutionality of a statute unless it is absolutely necessary to do so"). This court correctly concluded in Saticov Bay that it "need not determine whether NRS 116.3116 et. seq. incorporates the notice requirements set forth in NRS 107.090." Saticoy Bay, 388 P.3d at 974.

Apart from Saticoy Bay's finding, the Legislature amended NRS 116.31168

in 2015, explicitly requiring notice of HOA foreclosure sales to deed of trust holders. The certified question relates to a prior statute that is no longer on the books. A response to the certified question would have no prospective importance and would only spawn confusion as to the Legislature's intent in 2015 and the proper interpretation and application of the 2015 amendments.

The only reason the certified question is salient now is that SFR hopes to undo the precedent published by the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit in *Bourne Valley Court Trust v. Wells Fargo Bank*, 832 F.3d 1154 (9th Cir. 2016). In *Bourne Valley*, the Ninth Circuit held nonjudicial foreclosure of a superpriority HOA lien does constitute state action subject to federal due process. *Bourne Valley* also concluded NRS 116.31168 did not mandate notice to first deed of trust holders. The proper way to undo a federal appellate precedent is to petition the United States Supreme Court for a writ of *certiorari*, which investors like SFR have tried once already. *See Bourne Valley Court Tr. v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, 528 U.S. ___, 137 S. Ct. 2296, 2297 (2017).

Seeking to bypass the normal processes, SFR now asks *this* court to contradict the Ninth Circuit's interpretation of NRS 116.31168. Undoing a federal precedent by rendering a contrary interpretation of an already-repealed state statute on an issue this court has already deemed unnecessary to address is not a proper exercise of this court's original jurisdiction under NRAP 5. It would have no impact on state court

cases given this court's holding in *Saticoy Bay* and result only in an advisory opinion the sole purpose of which would be to confuse hundreds of federal court cases already subject to a binding federal appellate precedent. This court should decline to respond to the certified question.

If this court were to conclude this certified question meets the standard under NRAP 5—and it does not—the court should confirm that NRS 116.31168 did *not* incorporate a mandatory notice requirement but rather that it imposed an opt-in notice scheme. This interpretation is supported by the text and the structure of Chapter 116 and subsequent amendments, as well as long-settled canons of construction. Chief among them is the canon that all parts of a statute have meaning; multiple whole sections of Chapter 116 would have been superfluous if the notice provisions of NRS 107.090 incorporated into Chapter 116 mandated notice to holders of a first deed of trust. *Bourne Valley Court Tr. v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, 832 F.3d 1154, 1159 (9th Cir. 2016). Further, it would render the 2015 amendment to Chapter 116 pointless if the statute already required notice. *See id.* at 1159 n.4.

If the court were to conclude that NRS 116.31168 required notice through an incorporation of NRS 107.090—and the court should not so hold—the court should also answer the critical question of what content of notice is required. To answer the certified question by stating that NRS 116.31168 mandates *some* notice, without answering whether it provides sufficient or meaningful notice or opining at all on

the content of the notice, would plainly be a half-measure and a meaningless use of NRAP 5. By its clear terms, NRS 107.090 incorporates NRS 107.080,¹ which requires foreclosure notices to identify, *inter alia*, the *amount* of the senior delinquency. The court should make clear that at a minimum the notice should include all statutorily required facts included in NRS 107.090 and, by incorporation, NRS 107.080, such as (a) the fact that the lien included a senior delinquency because of a superpriority component, and (b) the amount of the delinquency senior to the first deed of trust.

Nevada's doctrine of constitutional avoidance supports this outcome. *See Sheriff, Pershing Cty. v. Andrews*, 286 P.3d 262, 263 (Nev. 2012) (declining to reach the constitutionality of NRS 212.093 and deciding the case on statutory grounds, stating "[i]t is well settled ... that we should avoid considering the constitutionality of a statute unless it is absolutely necessary to do so"). In numerous cases, including this instant one, that are pending in both Nevada and federal courts, the HOA did *not* provide notice of the superpriority amount. In such cases, the issue arises whether a scheme that does not require disclosure of the superpriority amount

¹ NRS 107.090 provides, in relevant part, "The trustee or person authorized to record the notice of default shall, within 10 days after the notice of default is recorded and mailed **pursuant to NRS 107.080**, cause to be deposited in the United States mail an envelope, registered or certified, return receipt requested and with postage prepaid, containing a copy of the notice . . ." (emphasis added).

violates due process under the Nevada and United States constitutions. After all, that amount is critical to informing the holder of the first deed of trust not only of the risk that the senior delinquency will result in a loss of a property interest but, more importantly, how to cure it. Holding that NRS 107.090 incorporates NRS 107.080 would resolve any constitutional aspect of this argument, and the cases could proceed on the question whether the foreclosing entities met *statutory* requirements. For these reasons, if the court were to respond to the certified question—it should not—and if the court were to conclude that NRS 116.31168 mandates notice through incorporation of NRS 107.090—it does not—it should also expand the question and include in its answer a holding that NRS 107.090's incorporation would have required HOA notices of default to identify the fact and amount of the superpriority component.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. This Court Should Decline to Answer the Certified Question

This court answers a certified question only if it may impact the resolution of the case before the certifying court, and if the question presents an important issue of law. *Volvo Cars of N. Am., Inc. v. Ricci*, 122 Nev. 746, 749, 751, 137 P.3d 1161, 1163-64 (2006). This case meets neither criterion. The certified question is immaterial to the controversy pending in federal court because the sale violated BoNYM's due process rights under *Bourne Valley* regardless of how the court

responds to the certified question. It does not present an important issue of law because (a) this court already declined to answer the certified question, (b) an opinion responding to the certified question would be advisory, and (c) the Legislature already amended NRS 116.31168 to mandate notice and cure the constitutional defect. Also, the case comes to this court in an unusual posture: the federal district court is already subject to binding precedent that directly addresses the certified question. Given this court's Saticoy Bay opinion and the Legislature's amendment to NRS 116.31168, this court does not need to—and will never need to—address the question. And the district court needs no guidance; it already has binding guidance from the Ninth Circuit. The only effect of responding to the certified question would be to call the federal appellate precedent into question and generate confusion in hundreds of cases pending in federal court. Prudence, federalism, and comity counsel against interfering with the federal appellate process in this manner.

This court's jurisdiction to answer a certified question arises from NRAP 5.

NRAP 5 is based on the Uniform Certification of Questions of Law Act of 1967

(UCQLA), "as are most other states' analogous rules or statutes." *Volvo Cars of N. Am., Inc. v. Ricci*, 122 Nev. 746, 749-50, 137 P.3d 1161, 1164 (Nev. 2006).

Jurisdiction is discretionary, and this court does not need to respond to a certified question even after ordering briefing. A party may address whether the court should

answer the question in an answering brief after the court orders briefing. That is what happened in *Volvo Cars*: "In their answering brief, the Riccis raise the threshold issue of whether evidentiary issues are properly the subject of questions certified under NRAP 5." *Volvo Cars*, 122 Nev. at 750, 137 P.3d at 1163. This court found that certification was not appropriate under NRAP 5 because the question did not raise an issue that could be determinative of the controversy. BoNYM also raises a threshold objection in this matter. Responding to the certified question is improper under NRAP 5, as interpreted by this court in *Volvo Cars* and by sister courts construing similar rules/statutes.

Volvo Cars reviewed case law from other states interpreting the UCQLA and applied California's standard for assessing whether a certified question ought to be nswered. Under the standard applied in Volvo Cars, this court will consider "certified questions when its answers may 'be determinative' of part of the federal case, there is no controlling [Nevada] precedent, and the answer will help settle important questions of law." Volvo Cars, 122 Nev. at 750-51, 137 P.3d at 1164. Volvo Cars applied California's approach, finding it "best serves the purposes of NRAP 5: federalism, comity, and judicial efficiency." Id. Volvo Cars cited Western Helicopter v. Rogerson Aircraft, 311 Or. 361, 811 P.2d 627, 632-34 (1991), which provides an in-depth discussion of federalism, comity, and judicial efficiency in the context of certified questions. Volvo Cars at 751, 137 P.3d at 1164 n.10.

Western Helicopter discusses seven factors to weigh in deciding whether to respond to a certified question. The seven factors are: (a) whether there is controlling state law precedent; (b) whether the federal court is likely to apply Pullman abstention; (c) state-federal comity; (d) whether responding to the question would settle an important area of law; (e) whether the issue is contested; (f) whether the case in federal court is final; and (g) whether the court should rephrase the question. W. Helicopter, 811 P.2d at 631-34. These factors weigh against certification here, where the history of Bourne Valley, Saticoy Bay, and the 2015 amendment would make a response advisory.

A. State-Federal Considerations Disfavor a Response

The unique circumstance this case presents—a federal district court certifying a question on which there is binding precedent from the federal court of appeals—counsels against a response because it would harm, rather than bolster, comity between this court and the federal court of appeals. The Ninth Circuit has already rendered a judgment, and the U.S. Supreme Court has declined to review that judgment. The Ninth Circuit has concluded that the notice scheme in Chapter 116 in effect at the time of the foreclosure sale was unconstitutional. This court should decline to act as an appellate court over the Ninth Circuit.

In general, acceptance of certification should be exercised to support comity between our state and federal court systems. As the Oregon Supreme Court

explained in *Western Helicopter*, federalism and comity are at the heart of certified jurisdiction practice. Certification is particularly appropriate if the federal *Pullman*² doctrine may apply, and a decision of the state court would avoid a federal court making a decision of constitutional law concerning a state statute.

Acceptance of certification in *Pullman*-style abstention cases is important to the smooth functioning of the federal judicial system, because the alternative to certification is federal court abstention and the attendant delay until resolution . . .

* * *

By contrast, <u>acceptance of certification in other cases</u>, <u>where abstention would not be the likely alternative</u>, <u>would do little to facilitate the functioning of the federal system</u>. Rather, certification would simply give the parties and the certifying court a definitive answer to a question of Oregon law that the certifying court itself has the authority to decide.

W. Helicopter, 811 P.2d at 632 (emphasis added). This court cannot now avoid the federal court's ruling that Chapter 116's notice scheme is unconstitutional. The Ninth Circuit has already ruled and that decision is binding on the federal courts in the Ninth Circuit.

_

² In *Railroad Comm'n v. Pullman Co.*, 312 U.S. 496, 61 S. Ct. 643, 85 L.Ed. 971 (1941), the United States Supreme Court directed the federal courts to abstain in cases where an unsettled question of state law may be dispositive of a claim that state action violated the federal constitution because the answer to the state law question may obviate the need to decide a federal constitutional question.

Certification would promote tension, not comity, between the state and federal courts. Ordinarily, comity favors responding to a certified question out of deference to the certifying court. Given that the district court already has a binding interpretive precedent, however, answering the certified question would do little to facilitate the functioning of the federal courts. To the contrary, it would at best undercut the Ninth Circuit's prerogative as the court with appellate jurisdiction over the certifying court.³ The sole effect of responding to the certified question would be to call the Ninth Circuit's decision into doubt—and to do so only in cases pending in federal court. This court would simply insert itself as an appellate authority over the Ninth Circuit. NRAP 5 is not intended to allow such an intrusion into the federal courts.

B. The Question Does Not Present an Important Issue of Law

Under *Volvo Cars*, a certified question must present an *important* issue of law. *Volvo Cars*, 122 Nev. at 751, 137 P.3d at 1164. This case does not. An important question of law is one of great public interest that affects substantial property or constitutional rights of public corporations and many citizens. *See, e.g.*, *In re Oahe*

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